ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Honorable Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 15 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Published Opinion No. 5655 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed June 12, 2019)

THE STATE, PETITIONER

v.

BILLY LEMURCES TAYLOR,RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001345

STATE'S BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803)734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court of appeals err in reversing Taylor's convictions for murder, two counts of attempted murder, and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, on a challenge to the substance of an *Allen*¹ charge when that challenge to the substance of the *Allen* charge was not made to the trial judge and is procedurally barred from review on appeal?

- II. Did the Court of appeals err in granting relief on the absence of certain language in the *Allen* charge when the language is not necessary to the charge and the remainder of the charge was not coercive?

¹ *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006) (citing *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). “This Court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Quattlebaum*, 338 S.C. 441, 452, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000)).

“In reviewing jury charges for error, this Court considers the trial court’s jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 90–91, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013) (citing *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 604 (2011)). “A jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law.” *Id.*

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). “A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 91, 747 S.E.2d at 448 (quoting *Brandt*, 393 S.C. at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 604).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 29– March 4, 2016, Respondent Billy Lemurces Taylor was tried by a jury for the murder of Rodney Nesbitt, the attempted murders of Brittany Jeter and Ashley Hiott, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Taylor was tried in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge. Frank Eppes, Esq., and Carter Massingill, Esq., represented Taylor. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Mark Moyer of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor's Office. The jury convicted Taylor as charged. (App. pp. 515-516). Judge Stillwell sentenced Taylor to forty years confinement for the murder conviction, thirty years confinement for each of the attempted murder convictions, and five years confinement for the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime conviction, all to be served concurrently. (App. pp. 532-34). Taylor appealed.

On June 12, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion that reversed the convictions. *State v. Taylor*, Opinion No. 5655 (S.C.Ct.App. filed June 12, 2019). (App. p. 590-98).² The State filed a timely petition for rehearing on June 27, 2019. (App. pp. 599-609). The Court of Appeals denied the petition on July 15, 2019.

The State filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari on August 29, 2019. Taylor made a return to the petition on October 14, 2019. This Court granted the State's petition on December 16, 2019, and ordered additional briefing. This brief of petitioner follows.

² Reported at 427 S.C. 208, 829 S.E.2d 723 (Ct.App. 2019).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The jury found that on February 22, 2014, Taylor shot and killed Rodney Nesbitt while Nesbitt was sitting in the back seat of a Chevrolet Tahoe on Pelham Road in Greenville. Nesbitt suffered a gunshot wound to the head. (App. p. 128). The bullet entered the right brow and exited posteriorly on the left side of the head. (App. p. 128). This was the mortal shot. (App. p. 128). He would have died “relatively instantly.” (App. p. 134). Cause of death was the gunshot wound to the head. (App. p. 136).

Ashley Hiott, the driver of the Tahoe, was also shot in the head. Hiott suffered a gunshot wound to the right temple region of her head. (App. p. 221). The bullet went through the right lateral aspect of the orbital, and it displaced both of her optic nerves. (App. p. 222). She also suffered facial fractures of the orbit. (App. 224). The bullet lodged behind her left eyeball, and it had not been removed at the time of trial because of its location. (App. pp. 222 and 225).

Brittany Jeter was also in the Tahoe. At the time of the shooting, Nesbitt had been in a relationship with Brittany Jeter (“Jeter”) for five to six months. (App. pp. 32, 372). That Friday, February 21, 2014, the two went to a bowling alley in Spartanburg with Jeter’s brother and another friend. (App. pp. 373-74). They were celebrating Nesbitt’s birthday, which was that Saturday. (App. pp. 373-74). After leaving the bowling alley, Jeter and Nesbitt went back to Woodruff, dropped off Jeter’s brother (who was then Hiott’s boyfriend and the father of her children), and then went to Hiott’s house. (App. pp. 30, 33, 374). Hiott and Jeter were friends, and that night Jeter and Nesbitt were borrowing Hiott’s Tahoe.³ (App. p. 374).

³ Hiott had purchased the Tahoe a few weeks prior to the shooting, and the rear passenger window in the Tahoe would not stay up; it was broken when she purchased the vehicle. (App. p. 53).

Nesbitt wanted to continue celebrating his birthday, so the three decided to go to Croc's, a nightclub in Greenville located just off of Pelham Road. (App. pp. 33, 375). Hiott drove, Jeter sat in the front passenger seat, and Nesbitt sat in the back seat. The three arrived at Croc's between 1:30 and 1:45 in the morning. (App. p. 34). They stayed at the club for approximately an hour. (App. p. 35). While inside, Jeter and Nesbitt bought a shot of Hennessy and a beer each. (App. p. 376).

While they were there, a fight broke out in the front of the club. (App. pp. 36, 378). Security sprayed mace inside the club, and everyone that was inside was forced outside. (App. p. 36). When the three went outside, Jeter and Nesbitt finished their beers, and they started walking back towards the Tahoe. (App. p. 379). Outside of the club, Hiott saw an orange or red sports car, either a Mustang or Camaro, parked in the middle of the grass section outside of the club. (App. pp. 37-38). Jeter also saw the Camaro. (App. pp. 379-80). Shortly after the three got to the Tahoe, they heard gunshots. (App. pp. 380, 381).

The victims stop for gas at a local BP station.

Hiott, Jeter, and Nesbitt got back into Hiott's Tahoe, and the three drove down Pelham Road to a nearby BP gas station. (App. p. 382). Again, Hiott was driving, Jeter was in the front passenger seat, and Nesbitt was in the rear passenger seat. (App. p. 49). When they arrived at the BP station, Hiott went inside to pay for the gasoline. (App. pp. 49, 382). Nesbitt got out to pump the gas. (App. pp. 49, 382). Jeter later got out of the Tahoe and stood by Nesbitt while he was pumping the gas. (App. p. 382).

Hiott noted the BP was busy, and there were people in the parking lot pouring milk on their faces attempting to wash out mace. (App. pp. 49-50). When Hiott walked outside of the gas station, she observed a fight between a lady and a gentleman in the parking lot. (App. p. 51).

Jeter saw there was a lot of arguing and fighting at the gas station. (App. pp. 383-84). Hiott also noticed a newer model Camaro with rims that matched the paint on the car. (App. p. 51). The Camaro was not parked at a pump, but was in a spot at the top of the gas station. (App. p. 52). Hiott did not see or hear anything from the Camaro, and there was a lot of noise in the parking lot. (App. p. 52).

When Hiott was coming back outside, Jeter got back in the Tahoe. (App. p. 383). When Hiott got back to her Tahoe, Nesbitt was still pumping the gas. (App. p. 52). Hiott stopped for a second, and then she got back into the Tahoe. (App. p. 52). Jeter had started to slide over to the driver's seat, but Hiott told her not to because she had been drinking. (App. pp. 52, 383). Hiott told Jeter that she would drive, and Jeter slid back over to the front passenger seat. (App. p. 53). Hiott got back into the driver's seat. (App. p. 53). When Nesbitt finished pumping gas, he got back in the Tahoe in the back seat on the passenger side. (App. p. 54). Hiott noted that he sat somewhere in the middle of the back seat, but closer to the passenger side of the Tahoe. (App. p. 54).

The Tahoe and the Camaro leave the gas station at the same time.

Hiott drove a loop around the parking lot and stopped before pulling out onto Pelham Road. (App. p. 384). In leaving the gas station, Hiott pulled up to Pelham Road to make a right turn. (App. pp. 54-55). She noticed the Camaro had pulled beside her, and she believed it was going left. (App. p. 55). She saw three males in the car; the driver, a passenger in the front seat, and a passenger in the back seat. (App. p. 56). She noted the passenger had little dreadlocks, and looked like Anthony Henderson. (App. p. 56). At that time, she had never seen him before. (App. p. 56).

Hiott made the right turn onto Pelham. She got into the left lane. (App. p. 57). The Camaro also made a right turn onto Pelham, and it got into the right lane. (App. p. 57). Once they turned right onto Pelham, Jeter heard a guy's voice saying, "[h]ey, girl, hey, hey, hey."⁴ (App. p. 385, l 9). Jeter looked back and saw the Camaro. (App. p. 385). It was back towards where Nesbitt's window was. (App. p. 385).

Someone in the Camaro shoots at the Tahoe.

The Camaro sped up and drove beside the Tahoe. (App. p. 58). Hiott indicated it was not completely side by side, but the two vehicles were neck and neck. (App. p. 58). Hiott heard some guys hollering from the car. (App. p. 67). She turned around to look, and that's when she saw the Camaro. (App. p. 67). Jeter heard someone else yell something else out of the Camaro. (App. p. 386). Nesbitt responded to the comments, saying something like "Hey, that's my old lady and my sister-in-law." (App. p. 67, l 25 – p. 68, l 1; App. p. 386). The guys in the Camaro said something else, and Jeter and Hiott told Nesbitt not to respond. (App. 68, 387). Someone from the Camaro hollered out "fuck you." (App. p. 68, l 11). Nesbitt yelled back, "[f]uck you too." (App. p. 68, l 12; App. p. 387). Jeter testified, "[t]hen after that, it's like pow, gunshot." (App. p. 387, l 13). Jeter thought she heard two shots. (App. p. 387). Hiott also heard a gunshot. (App. p. 68).

Jeter initially dropped down to the floorboard, but then she looked to the back seat and saw Nesbitt was slumping over. Then Jeter turned around and saw Hiott had blood pouring from her face. (App. p. 387). Hiott remembered seeing a light coming, and then everything was just

⁴ Jeter did not hear any yelling until they had pulled onto Pelham Road. (App. p. 392).

ringing and white. (App. pp. 68-69). Hiott could not see anything, and everything was ringing. (App. p. 69). She stopped the Tahoe pretty quickly after the shot. (App. p. 69).

Jeter remembered the Tahoe stopping, and she jumped out. (App. p. 388). Jeter saw the Camaro passing, and the Camaro's driver's side window going up as it passed the Tahoe. (App. p. 388). It sped off. (App. p. 388). Jeter got out, went to the back seat, and started screaming for Nesbitt to get up. (App. p. 389). He was not responding. (App. p. 389).

At that moment, Hiott did not realize she had been shot. (App. p. 69). She felt her nose bleeding, and she grabbed her face. (App. p. 69). Hiott remembered reaching for her door, and she recalled grabbing her phone, but she could not see anything to dial. (App. p. 69). Hiott then realized her face was getting really hot. (App. p. 69). She heard Jeter was screaming, please wake up, please wake up. (App. p. 69).

Hiott got out of the Tahoe, and she felt her way to the back of the vehicle until she collapsed at the back. (App. p. 70). Officers arrived on scene quickly. (App. p. 70). Hiott was taken to the hospital. (App. p. 70). No one in the Tahoe had a weapon, and no one in the Tahoe brandished a weapon. (App. p. 71).

When emergency personnel arrived on scene, Nesbitt was dead. (App. p. 106). Hiott, who was standing at the rear of the Tahoe, had a cloth to her head and could not see. (App. p. 106). Hiott had a wound to the right temporal area of her head. (App. p. 107). Her eyes were swollen, and they were closed. (App. p. 107). She was taken to Greenville Memorial Hospital as a level one trauma. (App. p. 110). Hiott informed emergency personnel that she had been shot by an unknown person in a red Camaro. (App. p. 109). As police arrived, Jeter also yelled that they should go after the red Camaro. (App. p. 388). Jeter recalled seeing someone with little dreads in the Camaro. (App. p. 388).

Taylor, Anthony Henderson, and Deunte Jones also went to Croc's that night.

Anthony Henderson ("Henderson"), one of Taylor's co-defendants, Deunte Jones ("Jones") (another co-defendant), and another friend named Cory started at Bugatti, a different club, on February 21. (App. pp. 269, 341). Henderson was friends with Taylor. Jones did not know Taylor before that night. (App. p. 341). Taylor showed up at Bugatti later that night. (App. p. 271). He was driving his red Camaro, which had aftermarket rims at that time. (App. pp. 271-72). Henderson, Jones, and Taylor decided to go to Croc's; Cory indicated he would not be going to Croc's because he needed to pick up his girlfriend from her job. (App. p. 273). Taylor drove Jones and Henderson to Croc's in the Camaro. (App. pp. 273, 342).

The three were in Croc's for at least an hour. (App. p. 275). At some point, a fight broke out in Croc's, and Henderson was sprayed with mace. (App. pp. 276-77, 342). Jones was not directly maced, but he did get some mace in his eyes. (App. p. 343). Henderson was not involved in the fight, and he did not know who was involved. (App. p. 277). Jones and Henderson went outside, and Taylor came out later. (App. p. 278). Henderson heard someone shooting in the parking lot. (App. p. 281). Jones also recalled hearing gunshots outside of Croc's. (App. p. 345). Jones and Henderson left Croc's with Taylor. (App. p. 344). Taylor drove, Jones got in the back seat on the passenger side, and Henderson was in the front passenger seat. (App. p. 344).

Taylor, Henderson, and Jones also go to the BP station.

After they left Croc's, the three went to the BP station on Pelham to get Henderson some milk to help get rid of the mace. (App. pp. 281, 283-84, 346). Henderson noted that on the way to the BP station, Taylor said he got to shoot his gun one time. (App. p. 281). Jones also recalled Taylor telling Henderson that he got to shoot his gun. (App. p. 345).

Taylor parked the Camaro on the side of the gas station. (App. pp. 284-85). Henderson stood at the car for a minute or two, and Taylor stood at the car for a minute or two. (App. p. 346). Jones stayed in the car. (App. p. 346). Henderson started to go inside the gas station, but it was overcrowded, and he did not want to walk past a group of angry guys who just arrived at the gas station. (App. pp. 285-86). Henderson also noted that Taylor was trying to fight anybody at the gas station. (App. p. 286). Jones recalled there was fighting around the gas station. (App. p. 346).

Henderson recalled seeing Hiott walking at the gas station. (App. p. 287). He noted that Taylor attempted to talk to her from his car, and he was rude about it. (App. pp. 287, 288). Henderson stated that Hiott did not acknowledge Taylor at all. (App. p. 288). Jones did not see the Tahoe. (App. p. 347). He did recall that Henderson did not get any milk. (App. p. 348). Jones asked both Henderson and Taylor to leave, but they sat at the gas station for another minute or two. (App. p. 348).

Taylor shoots at the Tahoe while they are on Pelham Road.

The three then left the gas station. (App. p. 290). Henderson remembered seeing the Tahoe as it was leaving. (App. p. 290). At the time, he was sitting in the front passenger seat of the Camaro. (App. p. 290). Jones did not remember seeing the Tahoe when they were pulling out, but it was in front of the Camaro when they were pulling out. (App. p. 348). Nesbitt was yelling out the window towards the Camaro, and Taylor was yelling back. (App. p. 291). Jones “heard the dude in the Tahoe” and Taylor. (App. pp. 348-49). Neither Henderson nor Jones recalled what was being said, or who started the words between the two. (App. pp. 291, 349). It was hostile. (App. p. 349).

Henderson did not remember the Tahoe turned right out of the gas station, but the Camaro did. (App. p. 292). Henderson heard someone talking on his left side real loud. (App. p. 292). Then, Taylor began arguing with Nesbitt again.⁵ The Camaro was in the right lane, and the Tahoe was in the left lane. (App. p. 292). Jones noted Taylor's window was down, and he was talking to the guy in the Tahoe. (App. p. 350). Jones saw Taylor reach over Henderson, and after that, he heard the shot. (App. p. 351). Jones recalled the Camaro was close to the Tahoe when he heard the shot. (App. p. 350).

Henderson heard a boom. (App. p. 294). Henderson got low in the seat, and when he looked up, he saw Taylor bringing his hand back inside the car from outside the window. (App. p. 294). Jones heard a gunshot. (App. p. 349). He ducked. (App. p. 349). Jones did not see anything, but he looked back and saw the Tahoe was slanting off to the left. (App. p. 350). Jones noted that Taylor laughed, and they sped off. (App. p. 351). Henderson stated the Tahoe swerved to the left, and the Camaro sped down the road. (App. pp. 294-95). Neither Henderson nor Jones saw anyone in the Tahoe with a weapon. (App. pp. 301, 353).

In his statement to law enforcement, Jones had indicated Taylor's left hand and arm were out the window when the shot was fired. (App. pp. 357, 362). He recalled that Taylor reached for the gun with his right hand, and Taylor did not recall which hand he used to shoot the gun. (App. p. 366). He thought it was with the left hand. (App. p. 366). Jones did not know where the gun came from. (App. p. 367).

Immediately after the Shooting.

Henderson then asked Taylor to take him home, but Taylor refused. (App. p. 294). Jones

⁵ Jones, who was in the back seat of the Camaro, was not involved in the argument. (App. p. 294).

also asked what happened. (App. p. 295). The three did not talk about the incident on the drive back towards Greenville. (App. p. 296). They drove to a house where some guys who were at the club earlier were. (App. pp. 297, 352). Jones stayed in the car at that house. (App. p. 352). Henderson got out to try to wash the mace off of his face. While there, Henderson heard Taylor tell those guys that he shot his gun. (App. p. 298). The three then drove to Taylor's house, and Taylor put something in the trunk of his other car, a black Audi. (App. p. 299). Taylor then took Henderson and Jones to Jones' house. (App. pp. 301, 353). Jones never talked with Taylor about what happened. (App. p. 353).

Austin Tate, a BMW employee who was driving home on the early morning of February 22, saw there was an extremely large crowd outside of Croc's that morning. (App. p. 113). He stopped at a drug store that was across Pelham Road to see what was happening at Croc's. (App. pp. 113-14). Tate heard gunshots, and he saw a guy firing a gun into the air. (App. p. 114). Tate called 911 and reported the shots fired. (App. p. 115). He saw law enforcement arrive. After he got off the phone with the dispatcher, he heard a single gunshot. (App. p. 116). Shortly thereafter, and as he was heading to talk with an officer he saw that was nearby, he saw the SUV on Pelham Road. (App. p. 116). After hearing the gunshot, Tate also saw what he described as a maroon Camaro speeding down Pelham Road towards the interstate. (App. p. 117). Tate also indicated the rims on the Camaro were not Chevrolet rims. (App p. 117).

Donterio Harris, Taylor's friend since childhood, identified the red Camaro as Taylor's. (App. pp. 236-38). He remembered the car was pretty new. (App. p. 238). On February 21, Harris had talked with Taylor about going to Croc's. (App. p. 239). Harris did not end up going to the club with Taylor because his girlfriend's mother had died. (App. p. 239). Harris received a call from Taylor sometime between 4 and 4:30 a.m., but he did not answer it. (App. pp. 239-

40). He talked with Taylor later on February 22, and Taylor informed Harris that the whole club was maced that morning. (App. pp. 240-41). Taylor borrowed a jack from Harris. (App. pp. 243-244). Taylor also later left the Camaro behind Harris's backyard with Harris's permission. (App. pp. 243-46). Harris also testified that Taylor washed the Camaro at Harris' house. (App. pp. 246-47). Harris said that Taylor had indicated he would only likely leave the car parked behind the house for a couple of hours. (App. p. 248). Taylor never came back to get the car. (App. p. 248). Harris also indicated that the rims in the picture were similar to rims that were pictured in State's Exhibit 13. (App. pp. 250-51).

Police investigation

The first officer that arrived on the scene recalled Jeter had stated that a red or orange newer model Camaro with tinted windows had pulled beside them before the gunshot. (App. p. 93). The vehicle had large rims. (App. p. 93). Officers also spoke with Tate. (App. p. 94). Emergency personnel who treated Hiott also noted that she indicated the assailant was in a red Camaro. (App. p. 109).

Detectives tracked down the surveillance video from the gas station. (App. pp. 157-58, 396). No weapons were found in the Tahoe. (App. pp. 158, 172).

Aftermarket rims were found in a shed behind Taylor's grandfather's residence. (App. p. 419). Those rims were rented by Taylor. (App. pp. 256-63). The wheel shop records also reflected the rims were rented for a 2011 red Camaro. (App. p. 263). The Camaro was found behind Harris' residence in Greenville. (App. pp. 174, 245). It could not be seen from the street. (App. p. 174). The car had been cleaned. (App. p. 180). A firearm was found in Taylor's room when he was arrested. (App. pp. 402-03, 423-24). Taylor's fingerprint was found on the trunk lid. (App. pp. 179, 233). Investigators also spoke with Jimmy Brock. Brock was in jail at the

Greenville County Detention Center at the same time as Taylor and Henderson. (App. pp. 330-33). He recalled Henderson asking him to tell Taylor to “clear his face.” (App. p. 333, l 13). Brock relayed the message to Taylor, who responded by asking Brock to tell Henderson to blame the back seat rider or Taylor would blame it on Henderson. (App. pp. 333-34).

As noted, after hearing the evidence, the jury convicted Taylor as charged.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing Taylor’s convictions for murder, two counts of attempted murder, and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, on a challenge to the substance of an *Allen* charge when that challenge to the substance of the *Allen* charge was not made to the trial judge and is procedurally barred from review on appeal.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the *Allen* charge but did not find any a particular part of the charge given was in itself coercive; rather, the Court of Appeals found the charge lacked additional language which was not included:

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