RECEIVED

FEB 20 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

BILLY LEMURCES TAYLOR,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001345

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial judge erred in not declaring a mistrial after the jurors declared they were at an impasse and, instead, giving a coercive Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896) charge.

On the night of February 22, 2014, a massive fight occurred at a nightclub in Greenville. R. 32, l. 7 – 33, l. 16. The security guards maced nearly everyone inside of the club. R. 32, l. 7 – 33, l. 16. As the occupants spilled into the parking lot, there were gunshots. R. 34, ll. 2 – 24. Many people from the club went to a nearby gas station to buy milk to pour on their faces to relieve the effects of the mace. R. 44, l. 1 – 47, l. 6. More fighting occurred in the parking lot of the gas station. R. 44, l. 1 – 47, l. 6.

Ashley Hiott, Brittany Jeter, and Jermaine Nesbitt were in the club, but were not part of the group fighting. R. 32, ll. 7 – 17. They left in Hiott's Tahoe and went to the gas station. R. 44, l. 9 – 45, l. 22. Hiott noticed a distinctive Camaro at the gas station. R. 47, l. 15 – 48, l. 10.

When Hiott's group left the gas station, the Camaro followed and pulled alongside her Tahoe. R. 50, l. 7 – 54, l. 14. Jeter was in the front passenger seat and Nesbitt was in the backseat. R. 50, l. 7 – 54, l. 14. Hiott saw three men in the Camaro, but did not know any of them and could not identify respondent as one of the men. R. 50, l. 7 – 54, l. 14.

The men in the Camaro began yelling trying to get the girls' attention. R. 62, l. 22 – 65, l. 22. Nesbitt yelled back at the men that the girls were with him. R. 62, l. 22 – 65, l. 22. The men in the Camaro yelled, "Fuck you," and Nesbitt replied, "Fuck you, too." R. 62, l. 22 – 65, l. 22.

Hiott then heard a gunshot. R. 64, ll. 13 – 14. Jeter heard two gunshots. R. 383, ll. 12 – 18. Hiott was shot in the head, but survived. R. 26, l. 23 – 27, l. 9. Nesbitt died from a gunshot wound to the head. R. 124, l. 11 – 125, l. 1. Jeter was not injured. R. 383, l. 12 – 385, l. 13.

The State's theory of the case was that respondent was the driver of the Camaro and the shooter and that Anthony Henderson and Deunte Jones were the passengers. R. 464, l. 9 – 466, l. 9. Both Henderson and Jones testified for the State that respondent was the shooter. R. 286, l. 25 – 290, l. 21. R. 344, l. 12 – 347, l. 24. Henderson was also charged with murder and attempted murder, but claimed he had not been promised anything by the State in exchange for his testimony. R. 262, l. 18 – 263, l. 10. Henderson and Jones were very good friends and had seen each other as recently as a week before trial. R. 315, ll. 14 – 25. Henderson and Jones' cousin had a child together. R. 316, ll. 1 – 2.

While Henderson was out on bond for this crime, he posted pictures of himself on Facebook with a semi-automatic weapon and messages indicating he would kill anyone who ran afoul of him. R. 316, l. 3 – 319, l. 9. (Defendant's Ex. 3 and 4). Henderson claimed he had nothing to do with the shooting except for being in the Camaro. R. 310, ll. 2 – 6. Jones had also posted threatening pictures of himself and Henderson on Facebook. R. 352, ll. 6 – 19. (Defendant's Ex. 3 and 4). Both Henderson and Jones also gave statements to the police that conflicted with their trial testimony. R. 319, l. 18 – 323, l. 11. R. 353, l. 4 – 362, l. 4.

The jury began deliberations at noon. R. 495, ll. 13-14. They asked a question about the court's hand of one, hand of all charge and returned to the jury room at 1:50 PM. R. 495, l. 17 – 498, l. 9. The jury deliberated another five hours and returned to the courtroom at 7:20 PM. R. 498, l. 17 – 499, l. 13. The jury had sent a note to the trial judge that they were at an impasse. R. 498, l. 17 – 499, l. 13. The court sent the jury home for the evening. R. 499, l. 14 – 501, l. 19.

The next morning, Judge Stilwell told the attorneys he was going to give the jury a “standard” Allen charge, but when defense counsel asked to see it, the judge said he did not have it written down. R. 502, ll. 2 – 11. The court then gave the jury the following charge:

Good morning, everybody, welcome back. Thank you for being on time. I do appreciate it. Ladies and gentlemen, I recognize that last night you sent me a note that indicated that you were at an impasse and you told me the division that you had in that note as well.

Now, I understand that the decision that you have to make is very difficult. And when you get 12 people together, it’s difficult to have 12 people agree. Particularly, when you come from different walks of life and you’re just thrown together on a jury, it’s difficult to make that decision. I know that, oftentimes, it’s difficult for two people to make a decision. It’s hard for my wife and I to figure out what we’re going to eat for supper sometimes. So, this decision, I recognize is hard.

But understand that **it’s important that you come to a decision in this case.** Understand that both the State and the Defense **have extended significant resources and time and effort to get to this point. Also, know that the State and the County has extended resources to get to this point as well.** And if you’re unable to come to this verdict in this matter, then, essentially, we’d be left with having to do it all over again, **extending additional resources,** time and effort. Now, ladies and gentlemen, I will tell you that there are no 12 other people in the County of Greenville who are more capable or competent to come to a decision in this matter than the 12 of you are.

Now, again, I understand it’s hard to come to a decision. But those of you who are in the majority should listen to the people in the minority. Those of you who are in the minority should listen to the people in the majority. You should take into consideration your respective positions and **you should come to a decision in this matter. Again, it really would be a waste of time, effort and resources for us to have to do all of those over again.** So, I’m going to ask you to go back to your jury room and resume your deliberations. Thank you, very much.

R. 502, l. 12 – 504, l. 8 (emphasis added). The jury left at 9:10 AM and returned with its guilty verdicts at 11:43 AM. R. 504, l. 7 – 507, l. 3.

Immediately after dismissing the jury back for their deliberations after the Allen charge, defense counsel placed on the record that he had objected the night before to the giving of the

Allen charge. R. 504, ll. 12 – 15. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial which was denied. R. 504, l. 12 – 505, l. 23. Defense counsel asked the court to bring back the jury and tell them that a hung jury was “a legitimate end of a criminal trial” and is sometimes the result of the state’s burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. R. 504, l. 12 – 505, l. 23. Defense counsel also objected to the Allen charge as unduly coercive. R. 504, l. 12 – 505, l. 23. The trial court denied respondent’s motions. R. 504, l. 12 – 505, l. 23.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial judge erred in its Allen charge and the charge improperly coerced the verdict. See State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 470 S.E.2d 106 (1996). “The trial judge has the duty to urge the jury to reach a verdict, but he may not coerce it.” Id. at 99, 470 S.E.2d at 108-09. The charge given by the trial judge in Pauling was upheld, but it contained a crucial point that Judge Stilwell’s charge lacked—that the jurors should not “give up any well-founded conscientious convictions.” Id. at 97, 470 S.E.2d at 108. Judge Stilwell’s charge repeatedly emphasized that a new trial would be a “waste” of time and resources and, more importantly, never told the jury that they did not have to give up their own individual convictions. Instead, he repeatedly told them they “should” come to a decision.

The trial judge’s decision here is much like the charge held coercive in Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 552 S.E.2d 712 (2001). In Tucker, the Court held the charge coercive because it unduly emphasized that the jury should reach a verdict, was directed at the minority, and the jury returned a verdict shortly after the charge. Id. The Tucker charge was held coercive even though the trial judge told the jurors not to violate their individual consciences. Here, the same coercive factors are present plus the lack of any direction that the jurors should not give up strongly held, well-founded beliefs just to reach a unanimous verdict.

The charge was also directed at the minority. The note the jury sent to the judge indicating an impasse appears to show multiple votes on each charge. R. 529. For example, it shows four votes on the murder charge with the final vote before declaring an impasse showing two for not guilty and ten for guilty. R. 529. On the attempted murder charges, the votes were 7-5 in favor of guilty on the charge regarding Jeter and 8-4 on the charge regarding Hiott. R. 529. While the record does not indicate that the trial judge forced the jury to reveal their numerical vote, which is improper, the revelation of the vote increases the coercive effect because the minority knows the Allen charge is directed at them. See State v. Middleton, 218 S.C. 452, 63 S.E.2d 163 (1951) (holding it is improper for the court to make the jury publicly reveal its vote count).

During the beginning of the court's Allen charge, he emphasized to the jury that he knew their numerical division. R. 502, ll. 17 – 20. The comments about the “waste of time” could be directed at no persons other than the two not guilty jurors and would certainly have (and did have) an effect on them. The effect of the Allen charge here was to negate the entire day's previous deliberations and force the jury to reach a verdict despite the State not meeting its burden of proof in the judgment of some jurors.

The State claims that the issue of a coercive Allen charge was not before the trial court and should not have been reached by the Court of Appeals. The State maintains this claim despite defense counsel Frank Eppes' objection that the charge was "unduly coercive." R. 505, ll. 19 - 21. Defense counsel also objected to the trial judge giving the charge at all, for which he is criticized by the Attorney General. R. 504, ll. 12 - 15. The trial court denied respondent's motions. R. 504, l. 12 - 505, l. 23. The Court of Appeals examined the trial court's charge under this Court's precedent in Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 552 S.E.2d 712 (2001) and found the charge coercive under Tucker's multi-factor test. State v. Taylor, 427 S.C. 208, 214-19, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727-29 (Ct. App. 2019). The issue is preserved.

The State's hypertechnical issue preservation claim rests wholly on an artificially carved-out portion of the Court of Appeals' reasoning. The court reasoned that part of why the Allen charge was coercive was because it omitted the important language that jurors "should not surrender their conscientiously held beliefs simply for the sake of reaching a verdict, an essential message that sometimes saves borderline charges from crossing the line into coercion." Taylor at 218, 829 S.E.2d at 729. The State claims that the Court of Appeals was barred from using this reasoning in examining the charge because trial counsel made no explicit objection to the omission of this language. State's Br. Pet. at 15 ("Consequently, the issue the Court of Appeals decided, and granted relief on, was not available for review on the merits.").

The most glaring flaw in the State's argument is that it ignores the standard of review and the test for determining whether a flawed jury charge is harmless. "In reviewing jury charges for error, this Court considers the trial court's jury charge **as a whole** and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 90-91, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013) (emphasis added). "A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not

require reversal.” Id. (internal quotations omitted). Under this standard of review and in reviewing for prejudicial error, the Court of Appeals was required to examine the charge as a whole and determine whether it was substantially correct and covered the law. The court logically followed these steps by comparing the charge given in this case to Allen charges given in other cases. When the court conducted this comparison, it found the charge in respondent’s case sorely lacking.

If accepted, the State’s interpretation of the specificity requirement would hamstring appellate courts from reaching correct decisions. According to the State, the Court of Appeals was barred from comparing the charge given here to other analyses of Allen charges by this Court and other precedent. The State seeks the conversion of a rule of issue preservation into a “magic words” rule that would constrict legal analysis by appellate courts in ways that would lead to incorrect and conflicting results. The specificity requirement is not meant to restrict an appellate court’s reasoning and logic, but exists to ensure trial judges know the argument before them and to require trial lawyers to do more than make general objections.

Furthermore, even if this Court accepted the State’s issue preservation argument, it would still wind up in exactly the same spot as the Court of Appeals because respondent objected to the giving of **any** Allen charge. Whether the giving of any Allen charge was proper in this case is preserved even under the State’s analysis. In deciding that issue, the Court would use the standard of review and test for prejudice and analyze the charge as a whole—and it would still be lacking when compared to precedent.

The State’s argument also ignores the fact that everyone in the courtroom understood the context of the objection. Defense counsel did not make a general objection, but objected to the charge’s coerciveness given the situation in the courtroom. The lawyers, the judge, and the jury